FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/28/2024 4:44 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Case #: 1029098

Court of Appeals Cause No. 39222-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Parentage of I.D.H.O

SHAWN JETT

Petitioner,

 \mathbf{v} .

JASMINE R. CAREY (n/k/a Sandberg),

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dennis J. McGlothin, WSBA #28177
Shiki Izuka, LIN #9896383
for Petitioner
Western Washington Law Group, PLLC
10485 Northeast Sixth Street #1820
Bellevue, Washington 98004
(425) 728-7296
docs@westwalaw.com

INTRODUCTION

Some children identify with a gender different than the one they were assigned at birth. When this occurs, the first parent to affirm their child's gender identity should not be punished. Civil contempt, with its severe remedies that include incarceration, should not be an available sword to coerce an affirming parent to require their transgendered child to spend residential time with the other parent who is not affirming. Statistics show this is a life-ordeath matter for the transgendered child. While most families do not have these challenges, that does not make this issue any less deserving of being considered a matter of great public interest because it is. Review should be accepted, and the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's four contempt orders should be reversed.

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The child, J¹, is the real party in interest. J's father is the Petitioner. He requests this Court review and reverse the opinion identified in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner requests this Court review the Washington State
Court of Appeals' Unpublished Opinion in *In Re Parentage of I.D.H.O.*, Case No. 39222-8-III, Washington Court of Appeals,
Division Three (January 23, 2024) (the "Opinion"),²
reconsideration denied, February 27, 2024.³

¹ To its credit, Division Three of the Washington State Court of Appeals recognized the sensitivity of this matter and addressed the pseudonym naming convention in the challenged opinion in its footnote †. Agreeing with the panel's reasoning, Petitioner will also use the same pseudonym naming convention in this Petition.

² **Appendix** at A-001 through A-014.

 $^{^{3}}$ *Id.* at A-015.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether an Affirming Parent has met their Burden to Show a Reasonable Excuse for a Recalcitrant Transgendered Child to Spend Court-Ordered Residential Time with the Other Parent who has yet to Affirm the Child's Gender Identity when the Child is Expressing Suicidal Ideation and is Engaging in Self-Harm.
- 2. Whether an Affirming Parent has a Duty to Reveal Mental Healthcare Information to the Other Parent who has yet to Affirm the Child's Gender Identity when the Child is Expressing Suicidal Ideation and is Engaging in Self-Harm.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties are the common parents of a teenager identified as I.D.H.O., and herein referred to as their "Child." On June 24, 2014, the Benton County Superior Court entered a parenting plan, including a residential schedule, for the Child. CP 58.

1. The First Contempt Motion.

On August 8, 2022, the Mother brought a motion for contempt hearing (CP 1–4) and obtained an order to show cause for a contempt hearing (CP 5-6). She complained that although the parenting plan orders joint decision making for non-emergency healthcare, the Father had established a new primary care

provider for the Child and also taken the Child to counseling, without making the Mother aware. CP 2. She requested that the Father provide her with the name and contact information for all of the Child's healthcare providers and provide notice in advance of any and all appointments for the Child. CP 3.

The Father's response included an August 19, 2022 declaration. CP 22–26. While acknowledging the parenting plan's joint decision-making provision for healthcare decisions (CP 22), he pointed out that given the Child's suicidal ideations and self-harming, it was urgent to see a healthcare provider. CP 22–23. The Father also pointed out that since turning 13, under Washington law, the Child could initiate evaluation and treatment for mental health services without parental consent, citing a statute in chapter 71.34 RCW. CP 23. He pointed out that the Child had enrolled in counseling on the Child's own, and that the Mother refused to use the Child's preferred name and pronouns, which was damaging to the Child emotionally. CP 24. The father denied hiding any healthcare from the

Mother. CP 26. The Mother replied with a declaration claiming that in fact the Father had withheld information from her. CP 41–54.

A contempt hearing was held on August 30, 2022, and the court entered an order on contempt. CP 57–60. The court found that the Father was in contempt and had failed to notify, inform, or involve the Mother in the child's mental health counseling and medical decision making; that the failure to follow the parenting plan was intentional; and made a finding of bad faith, citing a failure to confer or advise the Mother when the Child started and continued counseling. CP 58–59. The court ordered the Father to "immediately disclose all mental health providers of the child to the mother, and notify the mother of all appointments immediately when they are made." CP 60.

2. The Second Contempt Motion

On August 23, 2022, before the first contempt hearing had been held, the Mother filed a second Motion for Contempt

Hearing. CP 27–32. This time, she alleged violation of the residential provisions of the parenting plan. CP 28–31.

The Mother recounted an incident that took place on August 4, 2022, when she arrived at the exchange location to pick up the Child for her residential time. When the Father arrived with the Child, the Child stated a need to use the restroom inside the Ace Hardware store. CP 28. However, instead of going inside the store, the Child went to a nearby parking lot and got into a waiting black car driven by an older teenager, who then drove off. CP 28. The Mother called the police and accused the Father of having planned the incident, which he denied. CP 28. The sheriff later informed the Mother that the Child was in Oregon. CP 29. The Child returned to the Father's house later that evening. CP 29.

The Mother next addressed the exchange that was to have taken place on August 11, 2022. CP 29. That weekend, the Child was sick. CP 29. Nevertheless, by about 5:00 pm that day, all family members were at the exchange location. CP 29.

A police officer was summoned, who spoke to the Father and the Child. CP 29. After more than five hours, the Child again refused to go home with the Mother, finally got in the van with the Father, and they drove off about 10:20 pm. CP 30. The Father argued that he did not just leave the Child in the parking lot this week because he was afraid that the Child would run away again, and that he did try to persuade the Child to go home with the Mother. CP 76-77. The Father insisted that he had done all he could to encourage the Child to spend the required residential time with the Mother. *Id*. He referenced the child's suicidal ideation and self-harming, and the Child's threat to either commit suicide or kill the Mother. CP 78-80.

The next day (August 12, 2022), the Father once again drove the Child to the exchange location, and the Child once again refused to go to the Mother's home. CP 30.

A contempt hearing was held on September 27, 2022. CP 138. An order was entered finding the Father in contempt. CP 137–140. The order said that he failed to follow the visitation

visitation. CP 138. The court made findings that the Father "made no effort to encourage the child to attend visitation with" the Mother, and found bad faith because the Father "knew the child was hesitant to attend visits, and has taken no affirmative action to ensure the child attends as court ordered." CP 138.

The court also found that the Father "continues to fail to ensure the visitation schedule is followed." CP 138–139.

3. The Third Contempt Motion

On September 8, 2022, the Mother filed a third Motion for Contempt Hearing. CP 103–107. In this motion, the Mother described the exchange that was to have taken place on August 18, 2022. CP 104. On that day, the Father brought the Child to the exchange location. According to the Mother, the Child got out of the Father's van "and said that he was not coming to visitation because I wouldn't do lunch the previous weekend." CP 104. According to the Mother, the Father "did not

encourage [the Child] to visit and did not leave the parking lot," and that again her scheduled visitation did not occur. CP 104.

The Father filed a declaration in response, explaining that the Child still refused to spend time with the Mother. CP 132–133. He explained that he had taken the Child to every scheduled pick-up and drop-off at the exchange location, Ace Hardware, and that both parents had encouraged the Child to leave with the Mother. CP 132. He stated that he had explained the importance of visitation to the Child, and the importance of a relationship with the Mother and other family members. CP 133. Finally, he stated that the Child had no privileges at home if not visiting the Mother. CP 133.

A hearing was held on October 4, 2022, and the trial court entered another Order on Contempt, finding the Father in contempt. CP 166–169.

4. The Fourth Contempt Motion

On September 22, 2022, the Mother filed a fourth Motion for Contempt Hearing. CP 123–127. In this filing, she described

what occurred at the exchange that was to take place on September 9, 2022, at Ace Hardware. CP 124. She described how the Child exited the Father's truck, took a seat in the shopping cart return, and spoke with her. *Id.* She stated, "I asked for him to come with me a few times, but he said he did not want to and refused to enter my vehicle." *Id.* She stated, "Despite my attempts to encourage [the Child] to come with me for visitation, [the Child] returned to [the Father]'s truck." *Id.*

On September 30th, 2022, the Father brought the Child to the exchange location and, despite his fears that the Child would run away again or self-harm, drove away after dropping the Child off, so as to comply with Judge Ruff's order. CP 154-65. Per the Mother's account, the Child then walked into traffic, and the Mother escorted the Child out of the roadway and called the police. CP 192. The Father was called back to the scene, and the police took the Child to the hospital, where a doctor and Crisis Response became involved, although Crisis Response did not arrive until hours later, after midnight. CP

193. The Father's Supplemental Declaration with attached exhibits, including the police report, describes these events in more detail. CP 154-65. Finally, the Mother suggested that she forgo her residential time that weekend and that the Child instead stay with a grandmother. CP 194.

Despite the Father's argument that he had been remaining at the exchange location only out of his well-founded concern for the Child's safety, and not because he wanted to foil the parenting plan, nevertheless on October 18, 2022, the court entered another Order on Contempt finding the Father in contempt. CP 202–205.

E. ARGUMENT

Neither this Court nor the Court of Appeals has squarely dealt with the unique parenting issues presented when their common child identifies with a gender that is different than the one they were assigned at birth. The time to do so has come, and this case presents the issue for this Court's review.

The Ninth Circuit has held that "heightened scrutiny applies to laws that discriminate on the basis of transgender status, reasoning that gender identity is at least a 'quasi-suspect class.' " (citing *Karnoski v. Trump*, 926 F.3d 1180, 1200–01 (9th Cir. 2019)). To withstand heightened scrutiny, classification by sex or transgender status "must serve important governmental objectives and must be substantially related to achievement of those objectives." Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 197, 97 S.Ct. 451, 50 L.Ed.2d 397 (1976). It is beyond dispute that transgendered children face discrimination and harassment. The United States District Court for the Western District of Washington when deciding whether parents of transgendered children have a right to proceed under pseudonyms has keenly observed that "[t]he potential harm to transgender children if their identities are exposed can be severe as they could be exposed to retaliation by peers and the public." *Int'l* Partners for Ethical Care Inc. v. Inslee, No. 3:23-CV-05736-DGE, 2023 WL 7017765, at *1 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 25, 2023).

In Arizona, when three transgendered children challenged a state law requiring people diagnosed with gender dysphoria to have gender reassignment surgery before the state would change the gender on their birth certificates, the U.S. District Court for the District of Arizona struck down the law as unconstitutional. In doing so, it found, "The ongoing involuntary exposure of a child's transgender status is akin to a death by a thousand cuts as being continuously outed unnecessarily exposes this child to stigma, bullying, fear, and violence. D.T. v. Christ, 552 F. Supp. 3d 888, 897 (D. Ariz. 2021). The court not only recognized the discrimination transgendered children face on a day-to-day basis, but it also recognized the importance that affirming a child's gender identity has on the child's well-being and that not affirming their gender identity is detrimental to their mental and physical health.

...amending important identity-related documents (such as birth certificates) to coincide with a transgender child's gender identity (as opposed to

their external genitalia) is vital to their mental and physical well-being; and (4) that failure to amend such documents (such as birth certificates) improperly reveals a transgender child's transgender status to school officials and classmates, which results in discrimination and harassment based on their transgender status, and this is detrimental to a transgender child's mental and physical health.

D.T. at 896

The detriment to a transgendered child's general well-being and their physical and mental health was well documented by the United States Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals' in a school bathroom case. In *Grimm v. Gloucester Cnty. Sch. Bd.*, 972 F.3d 586, (4th Cir. 2020), as amended (Aug. 28, 2020), a child student who identified as being male but was assigned the female gender at birth challenged his school's refusal to allow him to use the boys restroom. Due to the school's refusal the child practiced restroom avoidance and developed repeated urinary tract infections. *Grimm* at 600. But that was not the worst of it. The court then described the harrowing experience that followed. "During his junior year, Grimm was hospitalized for suicidal

ideation resulting from being in an environment where he felt "unsafe, anxious, and disrespected." *Id. at* 601. It then contrasted the child's treatment by his school with his treatment when he was hospitalized. "In a moment of affirmation, the hospital admitted him to the boys ward." *Id.*

Respecting a transgendered person's gender identity is not, however, without its detractors. The tension between affirming and not affirming a person's gender identity has recently erupted in out sister state to the east- Idaho. In Poe by & through Poe v. Labrador, No. 1:23-CV-00269-BLW, 2023 WL 8935065, at (D. Idaho Dec. 26, 2023), a U.S. District Court Judge properly applied a heightened scrutiny analysis to Idaho's Vulnerable Child Protection Act's prohibition on the use of puberty blockers, hormones and other treatments, and it preliminarily enjoined those prohibitions from taking effect. Poe, at *12 (citing Hecox v. Little, 79 F.4th 1009, 1026 (9th Cir. 2023)). In response, Idaho's attorney general appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals on January 9, 2024. Ninth

Circuit Case No. 24-142. He then filed a motion to stay the injunction, but the District Court denied his request. *Poe by & through Poe v. Labrador*, No. 1:23-CV-00269-BLW, 2024 WL 170678, at *1 (D. Idaho Jan. 16, 2024). Now, most recently, on February 21, 2024, he has made application to the United States Supreme Court for direct review. U.S. Supreme Court Case No. 23A763.

As the gender identity battle rages on nationwide, the reallife challenges facing transgender children in Washington, and elsewhere, continue. Day-by-day those challenges take their toll on these vulnerable children's well-being and sometimes that toll results in a transgendered child's untimely death. One child's preventable death is a matter of great public importance and justifies this Court exercising its discretion and accepting review.

Other state appellate courts agree. In *A.A. v. Nita A.*, ___

N.E. 3d ____, 2023 IL App (1st) 230011, 2023 WL 8103459

(November 22, 2023), the intermediate appellate court decided

to review a moot issue involving a trial court issuing a domestic violence protection order that protected an adult transgendered child from his mother's non-affirming electronic communications because they caused "significant stress, including depression, anxiety, [and that they had] difficulty engaging with school." A.A., 2023 IL App (1st) 230011, ¶¶ 4-5. Even though the protection order had expired when the appellate court considered the issue, the appellate court chose to exercise its discretion to review the issues presented despite their being moot. A.A. at \P 25. The appellate court exercised its discretion based upon the public interest exception and concluded, "Protecting transgender individuals from abuse by family members is a matter of public interest, and unfortunately, it is likely that transgender individuals will face abuse from family members in the future." Id.

This case has no less public interest than *A.A.* Here, a transgender child common to both Respondent ("Mother") and Petitioner ("Father") was expressing suicidal ideation, engaging

in self-harm, and was suffering from body dysmorphia. CP 22-23. While parents are oftentimes not well-equipped to accept a child's gender identity when it differs from the one that they assumed since the child's birth, Father was the first parent to affirm J's gender identity. CP 22. Mother, on the other hand, continued to misgender the child by using pronouns and the child's birthname, which were inconsistent with the gender to which the child identified. CP 24-25.

Studies show that a parent's misgendering their transgender or nonbinary child increases the suicide risk by 40% nationwide.⁴



⁴ The Trevor Project, 2023 U.S. National Survey on the Mental Health of LGBTQ Young People, Pg. 24.

18

e

Yet only 27% of the people surveyed reported that all of the people they live with respect their pronouns.⁵ Moreover, 78% of those surveyed identified "Gender Identity" and 74% identified "Pronouns" as topics that would be helpful for the people in their lives to know more about. This problem is real and it needs to be addressed, as do all parenting decisions, consistent with the best interests of the child. RCW 26.09.002.

Mental health issues are also caused or amplified by the stigmatization and discrimination toward transgender children.

Further, transgender children will often also feel unaccepted by their family and peers, resulting in lowered self-esteem and self-isolation.

This social stigmatization also accounts, to some degree, for the high prevalence of comorbid disorders among the transgender population. For example, transgender children suffer staggeringly high rates of depression, anxiety, self-harm, and suicidal ideation or attempts. Shockingly, a reported forty-one percent of transgender adults have attempted suicide at some point in their life. Further, transgender children are at a "2- to 3-fold increased risk" of developing comorbid disorders, like depression and anxiety, than their cisgender counterparts.

_

⁵ *Id.* at 23.

Caden Pociask, <u>In the Best Interests of Whom?: An Analysis of Judicial Bias in Custody Disputes Involving Transgender Children</u>, 98 Ind. L.J. 1275, 1289 (2023)

In this case, J was truly recalcitrant and would not spend the court-ordered residential time with his Mother. On August 4, 2022, he texted Father stating, "If I have to go to [Mother]'s, I kill myself of her, I can't fucking deal with her anymore." Father's motivations could not have been more clear. "The last thing I was to do is bury our son because that's what it's going to come down to. I had to take action." CP 66-67.

This is where this Court's holdings in *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d 337, 77 P.3d. 1174 (2003) *as corrected* (Oct. 27, 2003), needs further clarification from this Court. RCW 26.09.160(4), codifies the required burden shifting analysis. It states,

...the parent shall be deemed to have the present ability to comply with the order establishing residential provisions unless he or she establishes otherwise by a preponderance of the evidence. The parent shall establish a reasonable excuse for failure to comply with the residential provision of

a court-ordered parenting plan by a preponderance of the evidence.

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