FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/25/2024 2:18 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102909-8

Court of Appeals No. 39222-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Parentage of: I.D.H.O.

SHAWN JETT,

Appellant,

۷.

JASMINE R. CAREY (NKA Sandberg),

Respondent.

### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C.

Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 Mail: 321 High School Road NE, D-3 #362 Office: 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 shelby@appeal-law.com

Attorneys for Respondent

##

#### INTRODUCTION

Father's Petition is premised on the false accusation that Mother does not affirm the child's gender identity. That is simply untrue. Mother loves her son unconditionally. She uses the name and pronouns he has asked her to use, "he/him." She desires only to be there to support her son. When Father claims otherwise, he ignores Mother's sworn declaration in favor of his own despite the appellate court's clear and correct holding that it would not reweigh the evidence, where the trial court plainly believed Mother.

Father also omits that he never raised this argument at trial, which the appellate court noted at oral argument. This is no doubt why the appellate court did not address this issue.

In short, Father's Petition is based entirely on false accusations and unpreserved arguments. This Court should deny review and award Mother fees.

## RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Father presents two issues for review, both based on the false premise that Mother does not affirm the child's gender identity. Pet. at 3. But Mother does affirm the child's gender identity, uses the name and pronouns he has asked her to use, loves him unconditionally, and desires deeply to know and understand her child so she can support him further. The real issues are these:

1. Where Father remained at the exchange location for hours, chatting with J., laughing, providing him a fan on a hot afternoon, and attempting to negotiate with Mother to buy them both lunch; while never once encouraging J. to go with Mother or disabusing him of the incorrect notion that at 14 he can do whatever he wants; did the appellate court correctly affirm the trial court's discretionary rulings finding Father in contempt?

2. Where the parties had discussed counseling for J. in the past and Father knew Mother was in agreement, and where Father secreted J.'s counseling from Mother cutting her out of the process and preventing her from helping J., did the appellate court correctly affirm the trial court's discretionary ruling finding Father in contempt?

#### FACTS RELEVANT TO ANSWER

Since the trial court found Mother credible, the appellate court took the facts from her declarations. In re *Parentage of I.D.[H.]O.*, No. 39222-8 at 2 n.1 (2024). On appeal, "Father contest[ed] Mother's evidence by citing his own declarations." Id. at 10-11. Here too, Father relies largely on his own declarations to spin a false narrative about Mother's alleged lack of support for their child's gender identity. Pet. at 3-11. But as the appellate court correctly noted, "the trial court already weighed the parties' competing declarations and found Mother's credible. Once the trial court weighs evidence, our court will neither reweigh that evidence nor reassess its credibility." No. 39222-8 at 11. Thus, this Answer adopts the appellate court's statement of the case, with which Father takes no issue, attached as Appendix A.

#### **REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW**

#### A. Father's Petition is premised on an outright lie.

Father's entire Petition is premised on the false contention that he affirms J.'s gender identity and Mother does not. Pet. at 1, 3, 4, 18. This, Father claims, is the reason J. does not want to have visits with Mother, and the reason Father refuses to encourage visits. *Id*.

Father did not make this claim in his opening brief, in which he never once claimed that Mother does not support J.'s gender identity or fails to use the name and pronouns corresponding to that identity. Instead, he argued that he encouraged visitation by taking J. to the exchange location and waiting there. BA 1-2, 23-26. Father did not raise this issue in his reply brief either, instead repeating his assertions that all he had to do was take J. to the exchange location. Reply 1-18.

When the appellate court notified the parties that it would decide this matter without oral argument, Father

requested argument, which the court granted. Father then changed course completely, leading off with the assertion that Father affirms J.'s gender identity and Mother does not, excusing Father's refusal to encourage the court-ordered residential time. Wash. Ct. of Appeals oral arg., *In re Parentage of I.D.H.O.*, No 39222-8-III (December 5, 2023), at 1 min. 40 sec. – 2 min. 10 sec.

Perhaps surprised by this new approach, the appellate court asked whether the trial court made findings to the effect the one parent was gender-affirming and the other was not, stating its belief that this issue had not been argued below. *Id.* at 2 min. 22 sec. – 2 min. 39 sec. Father agreed there are no such findings. *Id.* at 2 min. 40 sec. – 2 min. 43 sec. He claimed this issue was raised in "sealed documents." *Id.* at 2 min. 43 sec. – 3 min. 06 sec.

The appellate court interjected again, acknowledging the importance of J.'s gender identity and that while this "could have been the issue" around missed visitation, the

exchanges "went fine until the Father unsuccessfully moved for a [DVPO]" at which point it seemed Father and J. were "somewhat working together to frustrate Mother's visitations." *Id.* at 4 min. 23 sec. – 5 min. 20 sec. Father had no real answer. *Id*.

Still Father persists, citing nothing other than a few of his own declaration statements where he falsely claimed that Mother misgenders J., uses his birth name rather than the name he has chosen, and refuses to use his pronouns "he/him." Pet. at 1, 3, 4, 18 (*citing* CP 24-25). This is a reference to Father's August 19, 2022 declaration, in which he attempted to justify his failure to inform Mother about J.'s mental health treatment. CP 22-26. The following is taken from Mother's responsive declaration, dated August 25, 2002, which Father completely ignores (CP 41-44):

> While [Father] claims he couldn't ignore our son's 'urgent needs' there remains no excuse or explanation as to why his mental health treatment has been secreted from me for an extended period

of time. 2 years of ongoing mental health treatment does not equate to emergency medical care.

[Father] continues to claim that our son suffers from suicidal ideations and self harm behaviors. In no way am I saying this isn't true, but I have not witnessed these behaviors in my home and have not seen scars etc. on J[.] ... While J[.] has spoken up clearly about being unsure of who he is at this point in his life (by first coming out as Pan, then Demi followed by Lesbian and now Queer and going by a different name) it speaks volumes to me that J[.] is a teenager desperately trying to figure out who he is and as his parent, I should have been given the opportunity to provide the level of support he needed. Being denied such important information – like his diagnosis, treatment plan, medication prescriptions etc[.], ultimately negatively impacts J[.] because if I don't have the information, I can't help.

[Father] makes numerous references to saving J[.]'s life by seeking emergency care for him without my knowledge or consent. However, he has NOT sought any emergency services for J[.] and even canceling some routine counseling appointments. ...

• • •

I am also very proud of our child. It is unfortunate that [Father] seems to discount my role as a coparent ... I believe this ... only affirms [Father's] true intention of trying to cut me out of our child's life.

• • •

I am not purposefully misrepresenting [J.'s] gender by calling him B[.]. J[.] has gone through a variety of stages in this process – asking to be referred to by different pronouns and now a name. I am doing my best to call him by his requested name, but a lifetime of referring to J[.] as 'B[.]' is not easily changed and I admit I have reverted automatically at times. ... Perhaps if I was given the appropriate information and allowed to be involved in the counseling process, I could have learned some ways to better understand and support J[.] through this.

• • •

I love J[.] unconditionally. Our entire family loves J[.] and want to be there to support him. My other children are very upset that J[.] is suddenly missing and absent from our home. We all have such a good time together, they don't understand why this is happening. I have supported J[.] emotionally and encouraged him through struggles. When J[.] came out initially as not being 'straight' I stopped communicating with other family members who were unsupportive with his decision. I try to always make J[.] know he is welcome and an important part of our family and home.

In short, the entire premise of Father's Petition is

simply false. Thus, the issues Father asks this Court to

review are not presented. Pet. at 3. This Court should deny

review.

#### B. The appellate decision is correct.

# 1. Contempts 2, 3, and 4 are supported by substantial evidence.

The appellate court first addressed the second, third, and fourth contempt findings, all relating to Father's failure to encourage J. to go on his court-ordered visits with Mother. No. 39222-8 at 9-11. Father acknowledged that *Marriage of Rideout* is controlling and that under it a "parent may be held in contempt, pursuant to RCW 26.09.160, for failure to make reasonable efforts to require a child to visit the other parent as required by a parenting plan." BA 21 (*citing* 150 Wn.2d 337, 341, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003)). As this Court stated it (150 Wn.2d at 356-57):

Where a child resists court-ordered residential time and where the evidence establishes that a parent either contributes to the child's attitude or fails to make reasonable efforts to require the child to comply with the parenting plan and a court-ordered residential time, such parent may be deemed to have acted in "bad faith" for purposes of RCW 26.09. 160(1). Aside from unsupported and incorrect child-hearsay arguments<sup>1</sup>, Father's arguments on appeal were that he did all he could do to encourage visitation by bringing J. to the exchange location and remaining there, rather than immediately returning home with J. BA 24-25; CP 137-40 (Contempt 2), 166-69 (Contempt 3).<sup>2</sup> That is, Father effectively argued that all he had to do was bring J. to the exchange location and not leave right away. *Id*.

As to the second contempt, the trial court declined to find Father in contempt for the incident where J. ran off with a friend, finding insufficient evidence of collusion. RP 33. But the court found Father in contempt for his behavior the following weekend, ruling that Father remained at the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See No. 39222-8 at 11 n.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Father failed to address Contempt 4 in his opening brief, thus waiving appellate review. BR 24 (*citing Howell v.* **Spokane & Inland Empire Blood Bank**, 117 Wn.2d 619, 624, 818 P.2d 1056 (1991)). The appellate court nonetheless reached the issue, holding that contempt 4 is supported by substantial evidence. No. 39222-8 at 10-11.

exchange location for a 6-hour "showdown" refusing to do anything to correct J.'s mistaken belief that he "gets to dictate visitation." RP 34; *see also* CP 138. That is, Father implicitly encouraged J.'s recalcitrance. RP 33-34. As to the third and fourth contempts, the court found that Father did nothing to encourage the visits, instead making J. "more comfortable" as he refused visits. CP 167, 202-05.

The appellate court's analysis of contempts 2, 3, and 4, is as straightforward as it is correct: (1) appellate courts review contempt rulings for an abuse of discretion; (2) where a trial court reviews competing declarations and determines the facts, the appellate court will uphold those findings supported by substantial evidence; (3) the parties agree that the matter is controlled by this Court's decision *Rideout*, *supra*, in which this Court held "that a 'parent may be held in contempt, pursuant to RCW 26.09.160, for failure to make reasonable efforts to require a child to visit the other parent as required by a parenting plan"; (4) the

second, third, and fourth contempt orders are supported by Mother's declarations, which the trial court found credible; and (5) Father's reliance on his own declarations is misplaced, where the appellate court will not "reweigh that evidence nor reassess its credibility." No. 39222-8 at 9-11.

#### 2. Contempt 1 is legally correct.

As to the first contempt, the appellate Court rejected Father's argument that "he was excused from notifying Mother of J.'s mental health counseling because there is no evidence J. desired to have his counseling information released to her." No. 39222-8 at 12. Father misplaced reliance on RCW 70.02.265(1)(a), "which prevents providers from releasing, without patient consent, the medical information of adolescents who seek their own treatment." *Id.* The appellate court correctly held that this statute "binds only providers. It does not empower a parent to withhold medical information from another parent in violation of a parenting plan." *Id.* 

While Father's Petition does not address the appellate court's holding on this point, he repeats this argument. Pet. at 25-27. Mother addresses this argument below. *Infra*, §C.

# 3. No purge provisions were required for these compensatory contempt sanctions.

The appellate court correctly rejected Father's argument that "the trial court's failure to include purge provisions in its coercive contempt orders invalidated those orders." No. 39222-8 at 12. The court correctly held that a "trial court imposing compensatory sanctions under RCW 26.09.160 need not preserve the contemnor's opportunity to purge those sanctions." *Id.* at 13 (*citing Marriage of Lesinski*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 501, 514-15, 506 P.3d 1277 (2022)). Father's Petition ignores this correct holding.

#### 4. Fees are required by statute.

Finally, the appellate court awarded Mother attorney fees under the contempt statute, RCW 26.09.160. No. 39222-8 at 13-14. Father ignores this correct decision. *See* 

*Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d at 358-59 (holding that RCW 26.09.160(1) "and a similar subsection, RCW 26.09.160(2)(b)(ii), requires a contemnor to pay reasonable attorney fees and costs even on appeal ...").

In short, the appellate decision is correct and largely uncontested. This Court should deny review.

# C. Father fails to present any persuasive legal argument.

Father does not address the appellate decision. Pet. at 11-27. He largely ignores the trial court's contempt orders, too. *Id*. Instead, Father principally addresses the importance of respecting and protecting transgender youth. *Id*. Mother obviously agrees.

Father's argument is that he had a "reasonable excuse" for failing to comply with the parties' residential schedule so cannot be in contempt under RCW 26.09.160(4). Pet. at 22-25. But again, Father's "reasonable excuse" is his **false** accusation that Mother

refuses to affirm J.'s gender. And again too, Father did not raise this issue below, and the trial court did not rule on it. That is, Father's Petition is premised on false facts and unpreserved arguments.

In any event, the law already protects parents who provide a "reasonable excuse" for failing to follow the residential schedule in a parenting plan, and protecting a transgender child from a non-affirming parent would certainly be reasonable. RCW 26.09.160(4); *Rideout*, 150 Wn.2d at 352-53. But again, that is not the issue here.

Finally, Father argues that Chapter 71.34 RCW permitted withhold information him to about J.'s counseling, despite the parenting plan's joint decisionmaking provision. Pet. at 25-27. He has no answer to the appellate court's correct conclusion that RCW 70.02.265(1)(a), which prohibits health mental professionals from "proactively" releasing an adolescent's mental health records to a parent without their consent,

"binds only providers [and] does not empower a parent to withhold medical information from another parent in violation of a parent plan." No. 39222-8 at 12.

This argument is also premised on the same falsehood as the rest of the Petition: that Mother does not affirm J.s gender identity. Again, Mother loves J. unconditionally, has and continues to support his journey of self-discovery through all its many phases, and wants only to be involved in his mental health care so that she can learn, understand, and support J. CP 41-44.

#### D. This Court should award Mother fees.

The appellate court awarded Mother attorney fees under the contempt statute, RCW 26.09.160, which requires an award of attorney fees when a contempt motion is brought with reasonable basis. RCW 26.09.160(1); No. 39222-8 at 13-14. Thus, this Court should deny review and award Mother fees incurred in responding to this Petition. RAP 18.1(j).

## CONCLUSION

Father's Petition is based on a misrepresentation of the facts and on arguments that he never raised. It simply does not present the issue for which he seeks review. This Court should deny review and award Mother fees.

The undersigned hereby certifies under RAP 18.17(2)(b) that this document contains 2735 words.